1992

Utah v. Jason Thomas Genovesi : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a judgment and conviction for Manslaughter, a second degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-205 (1992). This Court obtains jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(f) (1992).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court's factual findings and conclusions of law are insufficiently detail to address all relevant issues. This issue is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Lovegren*, 798 P.2d 767 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

2. Whether defendant's wife's consent to the search of the residence she jointly occupied with defendant was voluntary under the federal constitution and whether she waived her right to refuse consent under the state constitution. This is a mixed question of law and fact requiring correctness standard of review for the district court's ultimate conclusion and clearly erroneous standard of review for its factual findings. *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1993).

3. Whether the warrantless search conducted in this case violated the Utah Constitution, which independently mandate that a consent search be made pursuant to a valid waiver. This is a question of law reviewed under the correction of error standard. *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256 (Utah 1993); *State v. Naisbitt*, 827 P.2d 969 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

4. Whether exigent circumstances justified the warrantless search of defendant's residence. This is a mixed question of law and fact requiring correctness standard of review for the district court's ultimate conclusion and clearly erroneous standard of review for its factual findings. *State v. Brown*, 1992 WL 355069, at 2 (Utah 1992); *United States v. Stewart*, 867 F.2d 581, 584 (10th Cir. 1989); *State v. Northrup*, 756 P.2d 1288, 1291 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

5. Whether the jury was not impartially impaneled and did not represent a cross-section of the community, as to have denied defendant his constitutional rights guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Article 1, Section

12, of the Utah Constitution, and Utah Code Annotated § 78-46-12 *et seq.* (1992). This is a question of law reviewed for correction of error. *State v. Thomas*, 830 P.2d 243, 245 (Utah 1992).

RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

United States Constitution, Amendment IV:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

United States Constitution, Amendment XIV:

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 14:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized.

Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 12:

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf,

to be confronted by the witnesses against him, to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his own behalf, to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district in which the offense is alleged to have been committed, and the right to appeal in all cases. In no instance shall any accused person, before final judgment, be compelled to advance money or fees to secure the rights herein guaranteed. The accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself; a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband, nor a husband against his wife, nor shall any person be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Utah Code Annotated § 76-5-205 (1992):

- (1) Criminal homicide constitutes manslaughter if the actor:
 - (a) recklessly causes the death of another; or
 - (b) causes the death of another under the influence of extreme emotional disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or excuse; or
 - (c) causes the death of another under circumstances where the actor reasonably believes the circumstances provide a legal justification or excuse for his conduct although the conduct is not legally justifiable or excusable under the existing circumstances.
- (2) Under Subsection (1)(b), emotional disturbance does not include a condition resulting from mental illness as defined in Section 76-2-305.
- (3) The reasonableness of an explanation or excuse under Subsection (1)(b), or the reasonable belief of the actor under Subsection (1)(c), shall be determined from the viewpoint of a reasonable person under the then existing circumstances.
- (4) Manslaughter is a felony of the second degree.

Utah Code Annotated § 78-46-12 (1992):

- (1) Prospective jurors shall be selected at random from the master jury list and, if qualified, placed on the qualified jury list. A prospective juror shall remain on the qualified jury list for no longer than six months or for such shorter period established by rule of the Judicial Council. The qualified jury list may be used by all courts within the county, but no person shall be summoned to serve as a juror in more than one court.

(2) The Judicial Council shall by rule govern the process for the qualification of jurors and the selection of qualified jurors for voir dire.

(3) The state court administrator shall develop a standard form for the qualification of jurors. The form shall include:

(a) the name, address, and daytime telephone number of the prospective juror;

(b) questions suitable for determining whether the prospective juror is competent under statute to serve as a juror;

(c) the person's declaration that the responses to questions on the qualification form are true to the best of the person's knowledge; and

(d) a statement that a willful misrepresentation of a material fact is punishable as a class C misdemeanor.

(4) Any prospective juror who fails to return a completed form as instructed shall be directed by the court to appear before the clerk to complete the form. A person who fails to appear is subject to the procedures and penalties in Section 78-46-20.

(5) Any person who willfully misrepresents a material fact on a juror qualification form for the purpose of avoiding or securing service as a juror is guilty of a class C misdemeanor.

Utah Code Annotated § 78-46-16 (1992):

(1) Within seven days after the moving party discovered, or by the exercise of diligence could have discovered the grounds therefore, and in any event before the trial jury is sworn to try the case, a party may move to stay the proceedings or to quash an indictment, or for other appropriate relief, on the ground of substantial failure to comply with this act in selecting a grand or trial jury.

(2) Upon motion filed under this section containing a sworn statement of acts which if true would constitute a substantial failure to comply with this act, the moving party may present testimony of the county clerk, the clerk of the court, any relevant records and papers not public or otherwise available used by the jury commission or the clerk, and any other relevant evidence. If the court determines that in selecting either a grand or a trial jury there has been a substantial failure to comply with this act and it appears that actual and substantial injustice and prejudice has resulted or will result to a party in consequence of the failure, the court shall stay the proceedings pending the selection of the jury in conformity with this act, quash an indictment, or grant other appropriate relief.

(3) The procedures prescribed by this section are the exclusive means by which a person accused of a crime, the state, or a party in a civil case may challenge a jury on the ground that the jury was not selected in conformity with this act.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant-appellant, Jason Thomas Genovesi ("Genovesi"), was charged by Information with criminal homicide, murder, a first degree felony, alleging that on or about March 20, 1992, Genovesi intentionally and knowingly caused the death of Gavin Adams, his step-son. This is a violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (1992) (R.7). By a motion to suppress, Genovesi objected prior to trial to the use of evidence which he claimed resulted from an unlawful search of his residence. The motion was denied (R.112-113). On October 6th through 8th, 1992, Genovesi was tried before a jury. At trial, Genovesi objected that the jury panel had not been drawn from a cross-section of the population as required by law, but from only a portion of the alphabet, particularly surnames beginning with letters "S" and "T".¹ The district court overruled the objection (Tr.17-18). On October 8, 1992, the jury eventually found Genovesi guilty of manslaughter, a lesser included offense (R.217, 224). He was thereafter sentenced to an indeterminate

¹ See Trial Transcript of 10/6/92, hereinafter "Tr.," at 12, attached to this Brief as Addendum IV.

term in prison of one to fifteen years on November 16, 1992 (R.224).² This appeal then ensued (R.228).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Genovesi was charged by Information alleging that on or about March 20, 1992, Genovesi intentionally and knowingly caused the death of Gavin Adams. This is a violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (1992) (R.7). Genovesi filed a motion to suppress evidence, claiming the evidence gathered was a fruit of an unlawful search of his residence (R.30-31).³ The district court denied the motion (R.112-113).

At trial, it appeared from the roster of qualified jurors that the venire had not been drawn from a cross-section of the community, but from only a portion of the alphabets (Tr.5). The jury clerk for the district court testified that the computer had initially selected 4,000 prospective jurors at random from the master jury list. Out of that number 2,900 names were qualified for jury service. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78-46-12 (1992). Then, the computer was asked to select a smaller pool of jurors to serve in this case. However, rather than selecting a pool consisting of surnames beginning with letters "A" through "Z", the computer erroneously selected names in blocks, with significant number of names beginning with letters "S" and "T" and excluding most other alphabets (Tr.7-9). Genovesi

² Record Document #224 is "Judgment," attached to this Brief as Addendum II.

³ The facts relative to the suppression issue are set in detail *infra*, POINT I.

timely objected to that procedure, *see* Utah Code Ann. § 78-46-16(1) (1992); Utah R. Crim. P. 18(c); *State v. Harrison*, 805 P.2d 769, 776 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), which objection was overruled by the district court (Tr.17-18). Genovesi then went to trial and was found guilty of manslaughter by a jury in Salt Lake County on October 8, 1992 (R.217).

Thereafter, Genovesi was sentenced to an indeterminate term in prison of one to fifteen years on November 16, 1992 (R.224). A Notice of Appeal was then timely filed in the district court (R.228). There are no prior or related appeals in this matter.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because the district court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are inadequate to allow meaningful appellate review, this Court should remand the case for further findings and conclusions. In the event this Court finds the record sufficient enough for review, Genovesi urges this Court to conclude that Mrs. Genovesi's consent to search was involuntary and not a valid waiver of a constitutional right.

No exigent circumstances justified the warrantless search of the Genovesi residence under either the state or federal constitution.

The warrantless search of the Genovesi residence independently violated article 1, section 14, of the Utah Constitution because there was no valid waiver of the right to refuse consent to search.

Genovesi was deprived of his constitutional right to a jury representing the cross-section of the community when the district court excluded from the venire persons with surnames beginning with letters "A" through "R".

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's factual findings on a motion to suppress for clear error. However, the court's ultimate legal conclusions based on the underlying facts, such as whether consent was properly obtained, or the magnitude of protection afforded by the state constitution, are reviewed *de novo*, for correction of error. *See State v. Strickling*, 844 P.2d 979, 981 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); *State v. Lopez*, 831 P.2d 1040, 1043 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); *State v. Vigil*, 815 P.2d 1296, 1301 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). *See generally State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270-71 (Utah 1993).

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE INADEQUATE AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

1. Facts:

The following facts were developed at the hearing on Genovesi's motion to suppress: On March 20, 1992, paramedics were dispatched to a residence at 5459 West Balsa Avenue, Kearns, Utah, to investigate injury to, and possible death of, a two-year old

child.⁴ After the paramedics had left the residence, sheriff deputies from Salt Lake County arrived. When they arrived, the deputies were satisfied that there were no other persons in the residence who could be in danger. The emergency that necessitated their presence at the residence had been taken care of at this point (Mtr. 13).

Later that afternoon, Gavin Adams was pronounced dead at the Pioneer Valley Memorial Hospital. Sheriff deputy Kenneth Patrick ("Patrick"), who was on the scene that day testified that the deputies conducted a warrantless, consentless search of the residence, took pictures of the scene and removed a wash rag therefrom (Mtr. 7, 10, 14). Thereafter, the deputies arrested Genovesi (Mtr. 14).

Subsequently, Patrick went back to the residence the following day, March 21, 1992, again without a warrant. This time, he claimed to have telephonically contacted and obtained permission to "look for evidence and tak[e] measurements" from Lisa Genovesi, Gavin Adams' mother and Genovesi's wife (Mtr. 7-8, 16). Prior to the search, Patrick did not inform Mrs. Genovesi that she did not have to consent (Mtr. 8). Mrs. Genovesi told patrick that the residence key was with a friend, Randy Beagley. Patrick then contacted Beagley and told him to bring the key to the residence (Mtr. 9-10). While in the residence, Patrick and other sheriff deputies removed hair samples, cut out a piece

⁴ See Transcript of Motion to Suppress, 8/19/92, hereinafter "Mtr.," at 6, 12. The transcripts have been redesignated in the record index as items 236-291. For clarity purposes, Genovesi will reference the original page numbers of the transcripts.

of the wall and sections of the carpet, and took photographs and measurements (Mtr. 10-11).

2. The District Court's Findings and Conclusions:

The district court found that Patrick had permission from Mrs. Genovesi to conduct the warrantless search. Order ¶ 1.⁵ The court then went on to conclude that the law in Utah "allows one spouse to consent to the search of property owned or used jointly with the other spouse." *Id.* ¶ 2.

3. The District Court Clearly Erred:

Genovesi is aware that "[a]n appellant raising issues of fact on appeal must . . . marshal all the evidence supporting the trial court's findings, and then show that evidence to be insufficient." *State v. Drobel*, 815 P.2d 724, 734-735 (Utah Ct. App.), *cert. denied*, 836 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1991). *Accord*, *State v. Gallegos*, 210 Utah Adv. Rep. 49, 51 (Ct. App. 1993). The district court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error and its legal conclusions are reviewed for correction of error. *See State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270-71 (Utah 1993).

a. The March 20th Search:

Marshalling the evidence, if Patrick had in fact testified that he had the permission of Mrs. Genovesi prior to conducting the March 20th search, the court's

⁵ "Order" is Record Document # 112, attached to this Brief as Addendum I.

findings will be credible. As the record vividly demonstrates, however, Patrick testified that at no point on March 20 did he did request or receive permission to search. *See* Mtr. 14, 18. *See, e.g., Thompson v. Louisiana*, 469 U.S. 17, 22, 105 S. Ct. 409, 412 (1984) (no consent where both officers "explicitly testified that they had received no consent to search.") Consequently, the district court's factual findings are "against the clear weight of the evidence," *State v. Rochell*, 210 Utah Adv. Rep. 40, 43 (Ct. App. 1993) (Bench, J., concurring), because erroneous and not supported by the evidence, *see State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987).

b. The March 21st Search:

The district court's finding that Patrick obtained permission from Mrs. Genovesi to conduct the March 21st search is also erroneous. It is true that Patrick testified that he telephonically contacted Mrs. Genovesi and told her that he wanted to go into the residence to obtain measurements and Mrs. Genovesi responded "yes." Mtr. 8-9. This testimony could conceivably support the district court's consent finding. However, Patrick also testified that he did not explain to Mrs. Genovesi that he would be conducting a thorough search for criminal evidence. Neither did he inform her that she could withhold consent to his request to search. In addition, Patrick could not have determined, and the district court made no finding, that Mrs. Genovesi's consent was specific and unequivocal, particularly where the alleged consent was obtained over the telephone. *See* Mtr.15-16. Thus, Mrs. Genovesi's response could not be characterized as spontaneous and specific;

rather, it is a mere acquiescence to the demands of a police officer. *See State v. Sims*, 808 P.2d 141, 151 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). *See generally State v. Carter*, 812 P.2d 460, 468-469 n.8 (Utah Ct. App.) *cert. denied*, 836 P.2d 1383 (1992) (ultimate conclusion of this nature by trial court defeats purpose of appellate review).

More important, the district court's conclusion of law on the consent issue clearly is incorrect. *See Thurman*, 846 P.2d at 1270-71 (trial court's ultimate determination of consent is reviewed for correctness). *Accord, Rochell*, 210 Utah Adv. Rep. at 41; *Godina-Luna*, 826 P.2d at 654. The district court made neither a finding nor conclusion regarding whether Mrs. Genovesi's alleged consent was voluntary and of free will, and not a mere acquiescence to lawful authority. The court merely concluded that Mrs. Genovesi consented to the search. Order ¶ 2. *But see State v. Marshall*, 791 P.2d 880, 888 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (conclusory finding that defendant "consented" to search and there was no evidence of coercion "not particularly helpful in determining whether . . . consent was 'unequivocal and specific'"). *Cf. State v. Ramirez*, 817 P.2d 774 (Utah 1991).

Further, Genovesi contended below that the alleged consent search independently violated Article 1, Section 14, of the Utah Constitution (Mtr. 22-27). *See State v. Buford*, 820 P.2d 1381, 1384 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (argument for independent state constitutional analysis should begin in trial court). The district court made no finding or conclusion on whether the search independently ran afoul the state constitution. *See Order.*

Consequently, the district court's findings and conclusions are "very sketchy and entirely failed to address critical issues," *Lovegren*, 798 P.2d at 770, thus leaving this Court with no "determination to review." *Carter*, 812 P.2d at 465. *Accord*, *Lopez*, 831 P.2d at 1043-44, 1050; *Marshall*, 791 P.2d at 882. Because this Court lacks the necessary information to undertake meaningful review of the issues raised by Genovesi, this case must be remanded to the district court for a detailed findings of fact and conclusions of law. *See generally State v. Strain*, 779 P.2d 221, 227 (Utah 1989); *Lovegren*, 798 P.2d at 771 n.11; *Lopez*, 831 P.2d at 1050. In the event this Court were to review the district court's findings and conclusions, Genovesi submits the following argument.

POINT II

MRS. GENOVESI'S CONSENT TO SEARCH THE RESIDENCE WAS
INVALID BECAUSE IT WAS INVOLUNTARY AND NOT A VALID
WAIVER OF A KNOWN CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT.

A. Standard of Review:

This Court reviews the factual findings on a trial court's determination of voluntariness of consent under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Vigil*, 815 P.2d 1296, 1301 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). However, the ultimate conclusion of the district court on whether there was a valid consent, a legal question, is reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* *See generally State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1270-71 (Utah 1993)(finally resolving the split in this Court on appropriate standard of reviewing consent issue).

B. Lack of Adequate Factual Findings Requires A Remand:

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