1992

# Utah v. Jason Thomas Genovesi : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF GENOVESI'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE.

#### Introduction

Genovesi requests reversal of the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence, which was founded upon his allegation that both the March 20 and 21 home searches violated constitutional search and seizure principles. The March 20 search, he argues, went beyond the scope of what was permissible incident to his "911" call. He then argues that the March 21 search was not supported by legally adequate, voluntary consent, and that it also exceeded the proper scope contemplated by Mrs. Genovesi's consent.

Before proceeding to the issues framed by Genovesi, the State raises two threshold issues. Considered in tandem, these two issues permit rejection of Genovesi's search and seizure argument altogether.

#### A. Genovesi's Nonspecific Motion to Suppress Impedes his Claim to Appellate Relief.

The State's first threshold issue involves Genovesi's inadequate specification of the precise relief sought. Genovesi has not, either in the trial court or on appeal, ever fully specified which items of evidence were seized during the March 20 search, as opposed to the March 21 search. In fact, his written motion to suppress, challenging "the warrantless search," only addressed the latter search (R. 30, 41-49, copied in Appendix I

of this brief). Genovesi did not challenge the March 20 search until the hearing on his motion to suppress (R. 253).

As follows, such lack of specificity causes problems for Genovesi. If he proves that only one of the two searches was improper, only some uncertain portion of all the seized evidence will be subject to the exclusionary rule. There is also one item, apparently assailed by Genovesi as wrongfully seized, that was never offered into evidence, and therefore is not a proper subject for this appeal.

#### **1. Photographs: When Taken?**

Twenty-five interior photographs of the Genovesi home were admitted at Genovesi's trial (State's exhibits 5-29, R. 294). Photos were taken during both the March 20 and 21 searches, but nothing in the record ties any of the photos admitted at trial to a specific search date. It seems likely that some of the photos were taken during each of the two searches.

Therefore, if only one of the two searches is ruled improper on appeal, only the photos taken during that search are subject to suppression, while photos taken during the other, proper search remain admissible. This leaves a problem: which of the photos are to be suppressed? In short, Genovesi has not specified the precise relief due to him if only one search was improper. But as the movant for suppression of evidence, such specification has always been his duty. See Utah R. Crim. P. 12(a) (a pretrial motion "shall state with particularity the

grounds upon which it is made and shall set forth the relief sought").

Accordingly, if this Court holds that only one of the searches was improper, it should deem the prospect of suppressing photographs taken during such search to be waived. See Utah R. Crim. P. 12(d) (failure to make timely request constitutes waiver thereof). Put another way, unless Genovesi convinces this Court that both searches were improper, he cannot achieve suppression of any of the photographs that were admitted at his trial.

## **2. Wash Cloth: Mootness**

While complaining about the seizure of a wash cloth during the March 20 search (Br. of Appellant at 10), Genovesi neglects to mention that this item was neither offered nor admitted into evidence at trial. Therefore, the question of whether the wash cloth should have been suppressed has no bearing on his criminal prosecution.<sup>6</sup> As such, that question is moot, and under Rule 37(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, it should not be addressed. Burkett v. Schwendiman, 773 P.2d 42, 44 (Utah 1989) (question is moot where its resolution cannot affect the litigants' rights).

## **3. Hair, Piece of Wall, Piece of Carpet.**

The record does show that the hair that "could have come" from Gavin Adams's head, the dented section of wall in which the hair was found, and the section of carpet were all

---

<sup>6</sup>If the wash cloth was unreasonably seized, Genovesi's remedy would simply be that it be returned, or if not returned, that he be compensated for its loss.

seized during the March 21 search. These items will be addressed at the appropriate points in this brief.

B. Even if Genovesi's Motion to Suppress Was Erroneously Denied in All Aspects, Such Error Was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.

This Court does not need to sort out Genovesi's vague, nonspecific motion to suppress. Instead, it can decline to address the propriety of either of the two challenged searches. As its second threshold issue, dispositive of Genovesi's search and seizure arguments, the State submits that any error in the admission of the seized evidence, against Genovesi's pretrial motion to suppress, was harmless.

For purposes of this analysis, this Court may assume, without deciding, that both searches of Genovesi's home were improper, and that all evidence obtained during those searches should have been suppressed. Even so assuming, Genovesi's conviction need not be reversed for the failure to suppress that evidence at his trial.

**1. Reasons for Harmless Error Analysis.**

Harmless error analysis is, of course, a legitimate and venerable approach to trial errors involving procedural and evidentiary rules. E.g., Utah R. Crim. P. 30(a); Utah R. Evid. 103(a); Utah R. Civ. P. 61 (harmless error rules mandating that trial errors that do not affect "substantial rights" shall be disregarded). See generally State v. Verde, 770 P.2d 116, 120-22 (Utah 1989); State v. Knight, 734 P.2d 913, 919-20 (Utah 1987) (discussing harmless error). Such analysis serves the beneficial

purpose of avoiding needlessly duplicative new trials, thereby conserving trial court resources:

[I]f the fabled "day in court" is permitted casually to multiply into twenty days in court, the inevitable consequence is that, by the inexorable law of mathematics, nineteen other litigants are denied any court time at all, save only the few moments required for the tendering of their negotiated pleas.

Davis v. State, 611 A.2d 1008, 1010 (Md. App.), cert. granted, 616 A.2d 1286 (Md. 1992). New trials, for errors that had no discernible impact upon the original trial, also subject litigants and witnesses to needless inconvenience, expense, and, in cases like this one, repetition of trauma and heartache.

Consistent with such concerns, the federal Supreme Court has squarely endorsed harmless error analysis even for errors that are constitutional in dimension. See Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42, 52-53, 90 S. Ct. 1975, 1982 (1970) (upholding conviction where possibly erroneous admission of evidence under the fourth amendment was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt); compare Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 550, 88 S. Ct. 1788, 1792 (1968) ("Because the [improperly seized] rifle was plainly damaging evidence . . . its admission at the trial was not harmless error"). See also Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. \_\_\_, \_\_\_, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 1263-64 (1991); Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 576-79, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 3105-06 (1986); Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 678-84, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 1434-1438 (1986); Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 21-24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 827-28 (1967) (all discussing harmless

constitutional error). So ruling, the Court has observed that reversal of convictions for constitutional error, even when such error is inconsequential to the trial verdict, "encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it." Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. at 577, 106 S. Ct. at 3105; Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 681, 106 S. Ct. at 1436 (both quoting and approving R. Traynor, The Riddle of Harmless Error 50 (1970)). Accord Fulminante, 111 S. Ct. at 1264 (harmless error doctrine "promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error" (quoting Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 681, 106 S. Ct. at 1436)).

Further, a trial court's failure to suppress wrongfully seized evidence is not constitutional error in and of itself. Rather, suppression under the "exclusionary rule" is simply a judicially created remedy for improper searches and seizures. United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 348, 94 S. Ct. 613, 620 (1974). See State v. Larocco, 794 P.2d 460, 473 (Utah 1990) (two-justice plurality opinion invoking exclusionary rule under article I, section 14, without deciding whether the rule is constitutionally required: "We simply hold that it exists"); contra State v. Aime, 62 Utah 476, 484-85, 220 P. 704, 708 (1923) (unanimously rejecting exclusionary rule under article I, section 14). Nor does the possibly erroneous denial of a suppression motion amount to a "structural defect" in the ensuing trial. Instead, as with evidentiary admissibility rulings in general,

such error is the kind of error that can be "quantitatively assessed in the context of other evidence presented" for its actual impact upon the trial. See Fulminante, 499 U.S. at \_\_\_, 111 S. Ct. at 1263 (explaining that structural errors are those that call the fairness of trial itself into question).

Indeed, in State v. Scandrett, 24 Utah 2d 202, 468 P.2d 639 (1970), the Utah Supreme Court, consistent with the federal approach, endorsed a harmlessness analysis even for errors that are constitutional in magnitude:

We think the correct view, and the one which is both practical and in keeping with the desired objective of fundamental fairness and due process of law, is that there is a presumption that [constitutional] error is prejudicial, but that it can be overcome when the court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that it had no such prejudicial effect upon the proceedings. Correlative to this it is also true that when the guilt is shown by other untainted evidence so overwhelming that there is no likelihood whatsoever of a different result in the absence of such error or irregularity, there should be no reversal.

24 Utah 2d at 208, 468 P.2d at 643 (footnotes omitted). So holding, the Utah court approved the policy of avoiding "unnecessary proliferation of legal proceedings." Id.

Harmless error analysis has also been at least tacitly approved under the Utah Constitution. The Scandrett opinion did not distinguish between federal and state constitutional error. However, there is no reason to believe that Scandrett was intended to make the analysis available only in cases of federal error, given that the same policy considerations apply under both constitutions. Indeed, post-Scandrett Utah Supreme Court

opinions do not question the availability of harmless error analysis under the state constitution. Rather, they merely express reservation about the form of such analysis. See State v. Verde, 770 P.2d 116, 121 n.8 (Utah 1989); State v. Hackford, 737 P.2d 200, 205 n.3 (Utah 1987).

In sum, this Court can confidently hold that harmless error analysis is permitted in reviewing allegedly erroneous denial of motions to suppress, under both the fourth amendment and article I, section 14 of the Utah Constitution. The only question is how to apply the analysis.

## **2. Parameters of the Harmless Error Analysis.**

The State answers that question by voluntarily assuming a heavy burden. Chapman, endorsed by the Utah Supreme Court in the above-quoted passage from Scandrett, places the burden upon the State to demonstrate that a constitutional error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>7</sup> 386 U.S. at 24, 87 S. Ct. at 828. Even though an erroneous failure to apply the exclusionary rule is not itself a constitutional error, the State shoulders the burden of proving harmlessness in this case.

---

<sup>7</sup>The error in Chapman lay in permitting the prosecutor to comment at length upon the defendants' decision to not testify at their trial. 386 U.S. at 19-20, 87 S. Ct. at 825-26.

The State reserves its prerogative, in some future case, to argue that harmless error analysis, applied to the allegedly erroneous failure to apply the exclusionary remedy for search and seizure violations, might proceed differently--perhaps even with the burden of demonstrating trial-level harm placed upon the defendant. Chambers v. Maroney and Bumper v. North Carolina do not appear to allocate the burden of persuasion in this context.

To show harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt, the State adapts the test set forth in Van Arsdall, a case that involved the erroneous denial of the defendant's confrontation rights at trial. Modified to fit the exclusionary rule error alleged in this case, the State first examines the challenged evidence for its importance to the prosecution. The overall strength of the State's case, independent from that evidence, is then be examined. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 684, 106 S. Ct. at 1438. This "overwhelming evidence" analysis is identical to that set forth in Scandrett, quoted above, where the at-trial admissibility of an accused's statements to police was in issue.

As just mentioned, the Utah Supreme Court has expressed reservation about how to apply harmless error analysis under the state constitution. In Hackford, 737 P.2d at 205 n.3, the court asserted that the Van Arsdall "overwhelming evidence" test of harmless error is more lenient than the earlier formulation in Chapman, which states: "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence complained of might have contributed to the conviction." 386 U.S. at 23, 87 S. Ct. at 827 (quoting Fahy v. Connecticut, 375 U.S. 85, 86-87, 84 S. Ct. 229, 230 (1963)). But strictly read, that formulation would make harmless constitutional error analysis--specifically endorsed in Chapman and Scandrett--impossible to satisfy. The "overwhelming

evidence" test relaxes the standard just enough to make harmless error analysis viable in constitutional error situations.<sup>8</sup>

The modern "overwhelming evidence" test of harmless error is especially appropriate in this case, given that the exclusionary rule violation asserted by Genovesi is not itself of constitutional magnitude. In shouldering the burden of persuasion under the overwhelming evidence test, the State will further obey the caveat very recently set forth by the federal Supreme Court in Sullivan v. Louisiana, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 113 S. Ct. 2078 (1993):

Harmless-error review looks, we have said, to the basis on which "the jury actually rested its verdict." Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ [111 S. Ct. 1884, \_\_\_] (1991) (emphasis added). The inquiry, in other words, is not whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict would surely have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was actually attributable to the error.

113 S. Ct. at 2081.

Under these parameters, the State's Van Arsdall and Scandrett-based harmless error analysis is stringent yet

---

<sup>8</sup>In the context of a confrontation clause violation, as happened in Van Arsdall, the Utah Supreme Court noted criticism of the "overwhelming evidence" analysis. Defense-favoring evidence that might have been gleaned through confrontation and cross examination may be not known on appeal. An appellate court, reviewing the error for harmlessness, therefore may indulge in excessive speculation about the content of the denied evidence, and may also deny the defendant's jury trial right, by ruling upon evidence that has not been placed before a jury. See Hackford, 737 P.2d at 205 n.3, and The Supreme Court, 1985 Term--Leading Cases, 100 Harvard L. Rev. 100, 115-16 (1986), cited therein. Such problem is not present in this case, for Genovesi only complains of evidence that was admitted, and is therefore known on appeal: he has no complaint that he was denied his fair right to "confront" the State's evidence, or to elicit his own evidence.

realistic: it should satisfy both federal and state constitution-based requirements. Under it, Genovesi's guilty verdict, like that of the accused in Chambers v. Maroney, is attributable to overwhelming evidence that, without dispute, was properly admitted--and not to evidence obtained during the challenged home searches.

### **3. Application of Harmless Error Analysis.**

Because the wash cloth seized during the March 20 search was not offered into evidence, it will not be addressed. The State's harmless error analysis addresses the following, actually admitted evidence: the interior photographs and measurements of the Genovesi home; the hair taken from the dented plasterboard wall; the dented wall piece removed from the home; the piece of carpet removed from the home. Compared to other, overwhelming State's evidence, the admission of these items was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### **Photographs and Measurements**

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